


Before his first downbeat that Thursday 
night, Oberhoffer was still a bit breathless 
on the platform. He had made a tardy ar­
rival at the Exposition Building, delayed 
by the press of traffic moving over the 
bridge toward the hall, and blocked at the 
hall's entrance by a conscientious but con­
fused doorman until he was identified and 
permitted to go inside. 

He was a portrait of elegance. Oberhoffer 
never would be one to neglect the proper 
and picturesque habiliments of his profes­
sion. He laid down his gold-headed cane, 
doffed his topper, whipped off his silk-lined 
cape, pulled off his white gloves, and then 
made his entrance to the welcoming hand-
spatter of nearly three thousand concert­
goers. 

Below at his left sat stout, sleepy-eyed, 
dependable Frank Danz, concertmaster and 
principal of the eight-man first violin team. 
Heading the cello section of four players 
was Carlo Fischer, brilliant young instru­
mentalist who had just been signed up by 
the Cincinnati orchestra for three years, but 
who was playing this first concert before 
his departure. He was to return later and 
take an important role in the orchestra's 
development. 

Among the first violinists were old Fred 
Will, bearded, aristocratic in bearing, a 
Danz veteran whose career went back as 
far as the senior Danz's first concert in 
1880; the floridly handsome Claude Mad­
den; and next to Danz in the first stand a 
skinny strippling, Albert Rudd, who had 
studied under Danz and taken charge of 
the Bijou Theater orchestra. In 1935 Rudd 
was to return to the symphonic fold after 
a career of many years as the city's best-
known theater orchestra leader and violinist. 

In the second violins was another prom­
ising youngster, William S. MacPhail, a 
Madden pupil and Danz man whose Euro­
pean SLudies were still ahead of him, and 
stfll farther ahead his founding of the music 
school bearing his name. 

The personnel was reasonably profession­
al, considering the times and the limited 
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amount of money available for musicians' 
salaries. But some of the men were only 
part-time musicians, Ed Schugens, bass, 
operated a shop that sold and repaired mu­
sical instruments and served as a gathering 
place for the musical fraternity. Julius Blak-
kestad, cello, was a salesman in his brother's 
musical instrument store. P. J. Lawrence, 
flute, was a lawyer. Cragg Walston, second 
violin, was in the lumber business with his 
father. As time went on, the orchestra would 
number in its ranks a mathematics professor 
who played bassoon, a paperhanger who 
played bass, and many another who divided 
his time between music and an outside 
trade or profession. 

Some doubling was necessary, and at 
least five men in the ensemble were ver­
satile enough to be able to shift from strings 
to wind instruments — from cello to bass 
clarinet, from string bass to tuba, from 
string bass to flute — and back again, Danz 
in the front chair, plus Danz men strate-
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THE Minneapolis Symphony Orchestra with Oberhoffer on the podium 

gically located in all parts of the ensemble, 
formed the nucleus of the new organization, 
without whom Oberhoffer could hardly 
have mustered a corporal's guard. 

THE FIRST PERFORMANCE of the new 
orchestra needed a big and costly name, 
preferably a singer's name, as an ace-in-the-
hole guarantee of its success and as lure 
for that sizable portion of the populace 
that might be more name-conscious than 
symphony-hungry. The orchestra's backers 
were willing to spend five hundred dollars 
for such a name. Minneapolis' own Olive 
Fremstad, who in the last three years had 
become the darling of European opera-
goers, would have filled all specifications. 
But she was not available for the opening 
night and could only be engaged for a later 
appearance. The choice finally narrowed to 
the noted Anton van Rooy, Dutch baritone 
who had sung at Bayreuth, but a week be­
fore the concert he canceled his engage­
ment, pleading that his attendance at 

Metropolitan Opera rehearsals, held earlier 
than usual, prevented his coming. 

Only two well-known singers were avail­
able at that late date — Charlotte Maconda 
at $175.00 and Marcella Sembrich at 
$1,800.00. The latter was fearfully expen­
sive, but after prolonged discussion by the 
Philharmonic's board and the guarantors' 
committee, she was engaged, on the theory 
that the first concert demanded the best 
guest artist available, regardless of cost. 

Sembrich was being trumpeted as the 
"successor of Adelina Patti," and she had 
become the rival of Lillian Nordica as the 
prima donna then most in the public eye 
and ear. The imperious Polish coloratura, 
who had retained so much of girlish spirit 
and grace, had appeared a year earlier in 
Minneapolis, but her program, devoted 
wholly to song, had withheld from her 
hearers those highly ornamented arias in 
which she excelled and for which she was 
famous. This time, with great acclaim, she 
sang with the orchestra "Ah! fors' e lui" 
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from Verdi's "Traviata" and the Johann 
Strauss waltz aria "Friihlingsstimmen," and 
to Oberhoffer's piano accompaniment three 
songs by Schumann, Arne, and Richard 
Strauss. 

Without question Sembrich added allure 
to the orchestra's premiere, exuding that 
regal aura that the idols of opera's golden 
age always carried with them as an almost 
tangible stage property. One of the chief 
values of her appearance was the attention 
it diverted from the obvious flaws of the 
orchestra's performance. 

On the night of the concert, after Schu­
bert's "Unfinished" symphony was per­
formed, Mme, Sembrich was led gallantly 
from the wings by the maestro himself, the 
two walking on to the stage with fingertips 
just touching in a high and elegant hand­
hold. In addition to her vocal numbers and 
the symphony, the lengthy program in­
cluded the prelude to Wagner's "Meister-
singer," Liszt's "Les Preludes," Mosz-
kowski's "Serenata," a selection from 

Massenet's ballet, "Le Cid," and Rossini's 
overture to "William Tell." 

How did the orchestra sound on that far­
away November night of its birth? Thin, 
presumably. By today's standards it cer­
tainly must have sounded thin, with the 
strings, hardly more than half the person­
nel, drowned out when the brass blasted. 
This was pointed out in the critical post­
mortems. Apparently Oberhoffer's strata­
gem of bringing the double basses forward, 
close to the first violins, was not enough to 
make the strings hold their own in the 
tuttis. 

But the violins, at least the firsts, were 
a sound and seasoned little body of men 
who could carry on acceptably even in a 
crisis, and in the Moszkowski morsel for 
strings they gave testimony of their finesse 
and co-ordination. This little serenade, in 
fact, was the most avidly greeted of the or­
chestral offerings, and Mr, Oberhoffer, with 
a raising of eyebrows that plainly said "it 
can't be helped," was persuaded to play it 
a second time. The brasses and woodwinds 
were less secure, their tones sometimes 
rough, and their phrasing hesitant. 

It was Oberhoffer who, after Sembrich, 
reaped the lion's share of the kudos, Henry 
B, Curry of the Minneapolis Journal alluded 
to the artistic repression and tasteful thor­
oughness of "the self-possessed conductor," 
while the orchestra was credited with pre­
cision, dynamic variety, and consistency. 

True, there also was fault-picking, but 
considering the inescapable hazards of a 
first try in an improvised auditorium, the 
orchestra's bow was auspicious. Many of 
course wondered whether the whole project 
wasn't another flash in the pan; there had 
always been a high mortality rate in the 
city's new musical organizations. First-night 
dazzle had often been followed, in an 
alarmingly short period, by last-night fizzle. 

But the officers of the Philharmonic Club 
allowed themselves no dark premonitions, 
no more than did the man who overnight 
became a full-fledged symphony conductor. 
A dream had materialized, a comfortable 
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pot of money had been raised, and a ques­
tion had been answered —the question of 
whether a paid and permanent orchestral 
accomplice of the club could be set up and 
made to stand on its own feet. 

WITH THE TENSIONS and satisfactions 
of the opening concert behind them, con­
ductor and musicians plunged into prep­
arations for the second concert, to be given 
December 1, when Harold Bauer, pianist, 
and Dvorak's "New World" symphony 
(then just ten years old) were the major 
attractions. 

What seems now an innocuous and ami­
ably sentimental work, the "Rustic Wed­
ding" symphony of Goldmark, was played 
January 29, 1904, and was termed fantastic, 
bizarre, and ultramodern by the knowing 
Caryl B. Storrs in his first signed review in 
the Tribune. The "tremendous difficul­
ties (!) of this work, he wrote, were at­
tacked with courage and evident enjoyment 
in "an artistic if not perfectly finished inter­
pretation." 

By this time the orchestra was uprooted, 
a wanderer in search of a home. The In­
ternational Auditorium at the Exposition 
Building had proved its inadequacies. The 
first three concer;s were played there, but 
then Oberhoffer and his men found another 
refuge, though one hardly better suited to 
their purposes: Wesley Methodist Epis­
copal Church. There the fourth and fifth 
concerts were played on January 29 and 
February 16, 1904, and there Beethoven's 
"Pastoral" symphony was given complete 
for the first time by the orchestra. 

The sixth and final concert of the first 
season, on March 23, 1904, reverted to the 
International Auditorium. Olive Fremstad, 
absent from her home city for ten years 
and now laureled with success, was the 
soloist, singing "O Don Fatale" from Verdi's 
"Don Carlos," four Norwegian folksongs of 
Grieg, Wagner's "Traume," and the "Se-
guidilla" from Bizet's "Carmen." Frank 
Danz took a bow for his fine obbligato in 
Handel's "Largo," and everything was in 

the best of order until the program's epic 
finale. 

This was the blood-curdling "1812" over­
ture of Tschaikovsky. A special set of 
chimes had been imported to lend added 
luster and magnificence to the climax of 
the work, where the Russian hymn finally 
quells, in a triumphant din, all opposition 
from the French "Marseillaise." The chimes 
were resplendent in gold leaf and elabo­
rately decorated with sportive cupids, and 
they were given a position of honor and 
prominence in front of the orchestra. Joseph 
Frank, who played viola and ran a music 
store on Sixth Street, was assigned to play 
them. 

At Frank's very first stroke the head of 
his hammer flew off and rolled under the 
chairs of the first violins. It was quite ir­
retrievable, particularly at that cataclysmic 
moment when the Muscovites had Na­
poleon on the run. The "1812" rolled on to 
its jubilant finish, without benefit of chimes. 
Frank, feeling and looking foolish, stood 
it out with a stick in his hand. 

THE FIRST SEASON was over! It had 
been gratifyingly successful, and the second 
season was already in preparation. 

The Minneapolis Symphony thus became, 
in 1903, the eighth major orchestra to be 
established in the United States. Two of 
them were in New York. This was only 
three years after the birth of the Phila­
delphia orchestra, six years before the San 
Francisco Symphony Orchestra was organ­
ized, and fifteen years before the Cleveland 
orchestra was founded. In four short months 
the Minneapolis orchestra had established 
permanency against odds that must have 
been formidable, considering the fact that 
a city ranking eighteenth in population was 
now one of seven in America possessing an 
orchestra of its own. 

THE PHOTOGRAPH of OberhofiEer on page 94 
is reproduced from the first symphony program, 
dated November 5, 1903. This program and the 
others pictured herewith are in the society's col­
lections, as is the view of the orchestra under 
Oberhoffer's direction on the stage of the Lyceum. 
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